
EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PANEL

MEETING TO BE HELD AT 2.00 PM ON WEDNESDAY, 4 MARCH 2020
IN ASPIRE-IGEN GROUP LTD, OPPORTUNITY CENTRE, 21-27 

CHEAPSIDE, BRADFORD, BD1 4HR

A G E N D A

1. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS

3. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND 
PUBLIC

4. MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE EMPLOYMENT AND 
SKILLS PANEL HELD ON 27 NOVEMBER 2019
(Pages 1 - 4)

5. CHAIR'S UPDATE

6. EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PROGRAMMES
(Pages 5 - 10)

7. POLICY UPDATES
(Pages 11 - 18)

8. DIGITAL FRAMEWORK AND ANALYSIS OF LOCAL DIGITAL 
OFFER
(Pages 19 - 80)

9. ADULT EDUCATION BUDGET
(Pages 81 - 152)



Signed:

Managing Director
West Yorkshire Combined Authority



MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE 
EMPLOYMENT AND SKILLS PANEL

HELD ON WEDNESDAY, 27 NOVEMBER 2019 AT COMMITTEE ROOM 
A, WELLINGTON HOUSE, 40-50 WELLINGTON STREET, LEEDS

Present:

Mark Roberts Beer Hawk Ltd
Glynn Robinson BJSS
Councillor Imran Khan Bradford Council
Councillor Ian Cuthbertson City of York Council
Councillor Peter McBride Kirklees Council
Nav Chohan (Advisory Representative) Leeds City Region Skills Network

In attendance:

Kate Holiday NHS
Diana Towler Department of Work and Pensions
Michelle Burton West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Peter Glover West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Tom Stannard Wakefield Council
Lindsey Daniels West Yorkshire Combined Authority
Janette Woodcock West Yorkshire Combined Authority

11. Apologies for absence

In the absence of Rashik Parmar, Mark Roberts chaired the meeting.

Apologies for absence were received from Rashik Parmar, Simon Barratt, 
Martin Booth, Amanda Stainton, Cllr Susan Hinchcliffe, Cllr Imran Khan, 
Cllr Adam Wilkinson, Cllr Patrick Mulligan, Cllr Michael Graham, Professor 
Margaret House, Nick Bowen, Mike Curtis, Sue Soroczan, Alex Miles, Sam 
Alexander and Merran McRae.

12. Declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests

There were no disclosable pecuniary interests declared by members at the 
meeting.

13. Exempt Information - Exclusion of the press and public

1

Agenda Item 4



There were no items on the agenda requiring the exclusion of the press and 
public.

14. Minutes of the meeting of the Employment and Skills Panel held on 12 
September 2019

To note that Diana Towler was present at the last meeting.

Nav Chohan noted that the change of criteria for AGE re new apprentices 
has impacted the take-up and that this wasn’t just due to the non-levy 
funding issue; he also noted that WYCC and the CA are waiting for an 
answer to a question about participant eligibility on (re)boot from DWP as 
Managing Agent for ESF.

Officers to follow up with Cllr Imran Khan re Bradford Linkage with SEND 
Hub

The Panel was asked to note the following:

Item 7, the inclusive Growth and Public Policy Meeting for November was 
cancelled but a paper will go to the next meeting in March including the 
evaluation of the work wellness pilot.

Item 8, a technical labour market workshop has been held for stakeholders 
on the 2019 data.

Resolved:  That subject to the above amendments the minutes of the 
Employment and Skills Panel held on 12 September 2019 be approved and 
signed by the Chair.

15. Chair's update

The Chair updated members to say that the interim report for the Future-
Ready Skills Commission was published earlier this month and sets out 10 
things that need to change with the current skills system.  In its next phase, 
the Commission will design a blueprint for how the skills system needs to 
work to deliver local outcomes.

16. Employment and Skills Programmes

The Panel considered a report to update on the progress of delivery of 
LEP-led employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region 
including School Partnerships, Careers, Apprenticeships and Employment 
and Skills for Business, Work Wellness.   

The Panel was asked for their help in raising awareness of the 
Apprenticeship Levy transfer service among their networks and to note and 
comment on the progress of delivery of employment and skills programmes 
in the Leeds City Region.

2



It was highlighted that the Kirklees Careers Hub is making good progress in 
supporting hub schools and colleges to achieve the Gatsby benchmarks of 
good careers guidance.  The average number of benchmarks achieved by 
the 33 secondary schools and two colleges in the Hub is 4.27, against a 
national average pf 3.9.  This included six secondary schools fully achieving 
Gatsby benchmarks, of only 99 nationally.

It was also highlighted that the Special Educational Needs and Disability 
(SEND) Hub officially launched in September 2019.  The hub is 
geographically based in the bordering local areas of Calderdale, Leeds, 
Wakefield and York and includes 29 schools.  Two key themes have been 
identified for the Careers Hub with a focus on; improving positive 
destinations and increasing employer engagement.  The Hub will develop a 
jointed up and collaborative approach, allowing more young people to gain 
access to the relevant support.  Schools will share best practice with each 
other and will prepare students for employment by providing meaningful 
encounters.  The aim is for students – who are currently significantly 
disadvantaged in the labour market – to make a successful transition into 
the world of work.

Resolved:

(i) That the contents of the report be noted.

(ii) That the comments of the Panel on the progress of delivery of 
employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region be 
noted.

(iii) That offers of help in raising awareness of the Apprenticeship Levy 
transfer service across their networks be confirmed.

17. Skills Advisory Panel Governance

The Panel considered a report for proposed changes in the governance of 
the Employment and Skills Panel to reflect the requirements of its Skills 
Advisory Panel remit.   The Panel was asked to recommend approval of the 
draft protocol setting out the ESP’s specific responsibilities with regard to its 
role as the Skills Advisory Panel for Leeds City Region and that the 
Combined Authority revise the membership of ESP to include two additional 
non-voting members who will represent education and training providers.

Skills Advisory Panels (SAPs) have been initiated by Government and their 
purpose is to bring together local employers and skills providers in order to 
develop a shared understanding of local skills needs and to define clear 
skills priorities. These deliberations are under-pinned by an evidence-based 
approach grounded in high quality labour market analysis.

Resolved:

(i) That the draft protocol setting out the ESP’s specific responsibilities 
regarding its role as the Skills Advisory Panel for Leeds City Region 
be recommended for approval.

3



(ii) That the Combined Authority revise the membership of ESP to 
include 2 additional non-voting members who will represent education 
and training providers be recommended for approval.

4



Report to: Employment and Skills Panel

Date:  4 March 2020

Subject:  Employment and Skills Programmes 

Director(s): Brian Archer, Director of Economic Services

Author(s): Michelle Burton, Head of Employment and Skills 

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Panel on the progress of delivery of 
LEP-led employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region.

2 Information

School Partnerships

2.1 The Enterprise Adviser Network and the Combined Authority’s Enterprise 
Coordinators are currently engaged with 185 (92%) of secondary schools and 
colleges. From April 2019 to December 2019 the network has delivered over 
186,000 employer encounters and 20,075 employer encounters for pupil 
premium learners, 13,313 of whom have had at least two employer 
encounters as part of the network. Leeds City Region is one of the only LEP 
areas where Compass1 results have increased across the board with an 
increase of 3.8% compared to a national 3.6%.

2.2 Targeted activity in Bradford Opportunity Area is currently ahead of profile for 
employer encounters for the programme. Two more businesses are joining the 
programme as “Cornerstones” this quarter; Turner and Townsend and Morgan 
Sindall. As Cornerstones, employers utilise their networks to share good 
practice and to encourage others to engage with education. 

2.3 As previously reported, 16 schools have been awarded grants through the BRP-
funded Raising Aspirations pilot in order to trial innovative approaches to 
raising the aspirations of their most disadvantaged young people. Of these, 15 

1 Compass is a self-assessment tool for schools to track progress towards the Gatsby benchmarks of good 
careers guidance

5

Agenda Item 6



have successfully started on time. An independent evaluation has commenced 
with engagement and consultation activities in process.

2.4 The Kirklees Careers Hub is continuing to make progress in supporting hub 
schools and colleges to achieve the Gatsby benchmarks of good careers 
guidance, although the rate of improvement is slowing. The average number of 
benchmarks achieved by the thirty three secondary schools and two colleges in 
the Hub is 4.3, an increase from the previous quarter which was 4.27. equal to 
the national average of 4.6% of Wave One results. Five schools have 
maintained their achievement of all Gatsby Benchmarks.

2.5 The Special Educational Needs and Disability (SEND) Hub has now 
successfully recruited five cornerstone employers. These employers act as 
“Career Champions” for their business sector, providing Enterprise Advisers to 
the network as well as stimulating their own business network to be more 
involved in supporting schools with their careers provisions. Since last quarter 
the Hub has seen good engagement with the working group members, an active 
steering group formed, and the first Employer and Educator Stakeholder Event 
held in January. 

Careers 

2.6 Following the re-launch of the FutureGoals careers campaign as an all-age 
platform in October 2019, the website has had 4,086 new users, 1,780 page 
views and reached 35,180 local people through online social media 
campaigns.

2.7 Curriculum-linked resources have been developed in partnership with the 
Burberry Foundation and form part of a Creative Industries Toolkit. A suite of 
inspiring educational careers resources will sit on the FutureGoals educator’s 
platform and promote the breadth of opportunities across the creative 
sector. The resources are mapped to the Maths, English and Science 
curriculum and link to the Gatsby Benchmarks for good careers guidance.  
The resources will be launched to educators in March 2020 through a 
campaign as part of National Careers Week. This will include a series 
of online tutorials, press mailers, a social media campaign and teacher CPD. 
The campaign is expected to reach over 190,000 influencers of young people 
in the Leeds City Region. 

2.8 FutureGoals briefing sessions have been delivered to 965 local influencers 
(educators, advisers, partners) between September-December 2019 to 
promote the FutureGoals platform and new resources that influencers can use 
to inspire young people and adults about the local labour market. Sessions 
have been welcomed and feedback has been very extremely positive.   

2.9 The Combined Authority’s adult re-training programme, [re]boot, part-funded 
through European Social Fund (ESF), has successfully reached 87 individuals 
since October. The first three courses have been in Digital, Hybrid Vehicle 
technology and Screen production skills (linked to the growth projected in the 

6



independent There have been 50 achievers who have benefited from 
completing a level 2 or 3 course in.  

2.10 To date [re]boot courses have attracted individuals from the under 50’s age 
range, including recent graduates and graduates who are underemployed. A 
local marketing survey will take place in March to inform a marketing 
campaign targeting harder to reach groups, particularly over 50s.

2.11 A [re]boot steering group has been established and met in February for the 
first time. The meetings will be quarterly and have sector representation from 
business. This group will disseminate ideas and strategies to the delivery 
partners on how to effectively meet contractual targets. 

2.12 Despite a delayed start and being slightly behind profile, [re]boot is delivering 
high quality courses developed and delivered by employers and numbers are 
profiled to accelerate over the next quarter. 

Apprenticeships and Employment

2.13 The Apprenticeship Grant for Employers (AGE) programme closed in 
November for new applications.  The final applications in the system will be 
processed before the end of March 2020. 

2.14 The Apprenticeship Levy Transfer Service was launched on 1 November 
2019.  Discussions are currently underway with several large national 
businesses who are interested in transferring some of their Levy funds 
although governance and approval arrangements within larger organisations 
means that decisions are not made quickly. Many of the levy payers are also 
stipulating how they would like their Levy transfer commitment using, mainly in 
respect of Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR) with many wanting to 
address the social mobility agenda.  

2.15 Since the Levy Transfer Service was launched the government has 
announced that it will provide additional funds to support businesses with 
training of up to three apprentices, via the Apprenticeship Service (an online 
system that will manage all apprenticeship activity in the future). This is for the 
first quarter of 2020. As yet funding arrangements beyond March 2020 for 
providers is unknown. There remains a need for the Levy Transfer Service to 
1) ensure that providers and businesses have access to funding to support 
new apprenticeship training and 2) ensure that the Levy paid by local 
businesses is used to support local businesses and citizens.

2.16 https://www.the-lep.com/for-businesses/skills-and-training/apprenticeship-levy-
support/ provides the link to the Levy Transfer Services webpages, including 
the only registration form for training providers to request support from the 
matching service on behalf of businesses.

7

https://www.the-lep.com/for-businesses/skills-and-training/apprenticeship-levy-support/
https://www.the-lep.com/for-businesses/skills-and-training/apprenticeship-levy-support/


2.17 The LCR Employment Hub programme, launched in January 2019, is being 
delivered in partnership with Local Authorities and will support over 6,000 
young people aged 15-24 to access apprenticeships and employment. At the 
end of year one of the programme (as at December 2019) we have:

 Engaged 1668 15-24-year-old participants against a profile of 1779 (94%).  
Of these:

 454, against a profile of 203 (224%), were recorded as being from ethnic 
monitories

 368 declared they had disabilities against a target of 156 (236%)
 Of the participants starting the programme 217 have been supported with 

finding education/ training, employment or self-employment against a 
target of 498 (44%) and have

 Engaged with 853 businesses against a target of 1458 (59%).

Although initial engagements for the programme are strong, key results of 
people into employment and further learning will be more challenging to 
achieve within programme timescales.

2.18 National Apprenticeship Week 2020 (NAW20) ran from 3 to 7 February. There 
was a lot of activity during the week from schools, providers and businesses to 
celebrate and showcase apprenticeships including Apprenticeship Fairs in 
Leeds, Wakefield and Kirklees and staff from the LEP and Employment Hubs 
contributing to conferences and celebration events.

Delivery Agreements

2.19 Reviews with the seven West Yorkshire FE institutions are being scheduled to 
take place during March when performance for academic year 2018/19 will be 
reviewed along with discussions around future aspirations of the institutions 
and response to the Combined Authority/LEP priorities.

Skills for Business

2.20 As previously reported, the Combined Authority has submitted a bid to the 
Managing Agent for European Social Fund to deliver a Skills for Growth 
programme which will support businesses to engage with the full breadth of 
the education system, from primary schools to universities. A decision is 
anticipated imminently.  

Work Wellness

2.21 The Work Wellness pilot project in Calderdale has completed its 12 months of 
delivery. A total 785 clients have been referred in the 12-month period of 
which 319 have been eligible for work wellness support. 45 (14%) of the 
eligible group have returned to work. In the final quarter of delivery, only 6 out 
of a total 236 clients seen have required clinical intervention. 

8



3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Panel is asked to note and comment on the progress of delivery of 
employment and skills programmes in the Leeds City Region.

8 Background Documents

None.

9 Appendices

None

9



This page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Employment and Skills Panel

Date:  4 March 2020

Subject:  Policy Update  

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Sonya Midgley

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Panel on policy items relating to 
employment and skills in Leeds City Region, clarifying the structure and 
hierarchy of the planned policy work. 

1.2 The Panel is asked to consider the proposal for an updated Employment and 
Skills Plan.

2 Information

Strategic Economic Framework 

2.1 This panel has informed a number of policy statements as part of the strategic 
economic framework (SEF), which builds on and replaces the Strategic 
Economic Plan (SEP).  The SEF provides a new, agile, long-term strategic 
framework, incorporating both the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) and a full 
range of policies and strategies, reflecting the scale of our vision and priorities 
for the City Region.  

2.2 The SEF sets our vision for the City Region and the four key priorities for 
realising this are: 

 Boosting productivity 
 Enabling inclusive growth
 Delivering 21st century transport 
 Tackling the climate emergency

2.3 All strategies produced by the Combined Authority and Local Enterprise 
Partnership are aligned with the SEF, with a clear focus on meeting our 
priorities. The diagram below outlines the revised Framework structure. 

11

Agenda Item 7



Local Industrial Strategy 

2.4 The new Government have not yet made clear their intentions with regard to 
Local Industrial Strategies and the planned co-writing process. We are 
continuing our development work on the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), which 
is in the final stages following extensive consultation with panels and partner 
organisations, and the LEP Board on 25 February received an update on 
progress. 

2.5 The LIS foundations with the most implications for the Employment and Skills 
Panel sit within Business Environment, People and Ideas. The strategic 
priorities for each of these foundations have been shared with this panel 
previously, and are outlined below. 

2.6 Business Environment: 

 Inspiring a ‘No Wrong Door’ ethos to simplify and refocus the business 
support ecosystem.  

 Increasing the supply of relevant finance products that will better equip 
businesses, supporting start-ups and scale-up businesses

 Improving the supply, viability and availability of quality business premises. 
 Collaborating with the private sector to exploit new market opportunities

12



2.7 People: 

 Skills: increase supply and demand
- Develop a fully integrated business and skills system that is more 

responsive to changing employer demand and economic needs 
- Align the supply of skills needed for the City’ Region’s future economy 

with sectoral demand and strategic opportunities 
- Widen and retain the pool of talent through integrated planning 

 Boost earning power 
- Universal access to all ages to high quality careers and retraining 

services
- Leadership development that supports innovation and good growth
- Embed resilience and creativity within pre-16 education to improve 

attainment, social mobility and health outcomes 

 Inclusive growth
- Make learning and labour markets more inclusive
- Act to boost basic, intermediate and advanced digital skills to support 

progression
- Boost wellbeing by bringing together health and employment support, 

helping people to access and sustain work and improving business 
productivity 

2.8 Ideas: 
 Frontier and Cautious Innovators

We will focus our efforts on supporting our brightest innovators to do more, 
working in partnership with key agencies to incentivise business R&D 
investment, whilst ensuring that the new ideas, practices and technologies 
reach all our businesses.

 Innovation diffusion
We will support all businesses to benefit from the diffusion of innovation by 
encouraging the adoption of new technologies and leadership and 
management practices. 

2.9 Some priorities have clear implementation plans, whereas others will require 
more collaboration to develop a Leeds City Region solution. Following the 
decision made at ESP and at the Business Innovation and Growth Panel, 
‘Strategy to Action’ squads are being assembled to focus on different ways to 
implement a range of the priorities. These squads will focus on ‘Business 
Leadership’ and ‘Inclusive and agile workforces’. Existing working groups and 
structures are being utilised to further other implementation discussions: e.g. 
the Digital Board, the Skills Commission. 

Employment and Skills Plan

2.10 The lifespan of the current Employment and Skills Plan ends during this year, 
2020. The panel has received regular updates on the progress and 
performance of this work through the employment and skills update papers.

13



2.11 The Employment and Skills Plan (2016-2020) was well received and set out 
the actions of the Combined Authority in response to the skills and 
employment needs of the local labour market.

2.12 It is proposed that the Employment and Skills Plan is updated and republished 
in the Autumn. The Employment and Skills Plan will sit within the SEF and 
encompass the policy statements approved by the Employment and Skills 
Panel, the LIS priorities and the Skills Commission recommendations. 

2.13 The updated Employment and Skills Plan will collect the relevant priorities and 
strands from the above strategies together into one clear plan, that is 
accessible to the wider sector (e.g. training providers, schools, college, 
universities, careers providers, employers), clearly stating our ambitions 
around Employment and Skills within the Leeds City Region, and actions that 
will be undertaken to address skills and employment needs.  

2.14 It is proposed that the following is included on the agenda at the next 
Employment and Skills Panel meeting:

 Proposals from Skills Commission
 Business Plan priorities from employment and skills programmes
 Framework for proposed Employment and Skills Plan 
 Forward workplan for consultation on Employment and Skills Plan 

Possible Devolution 

2.15 Devolution discussions between Leaders and Ministers were revived in 
January 2020. As with other areas that have devolution deals, the Adult 
Education Budget (AEB) is a possible element of a future deal. Even if a 
devolution deal is agreed, there are still a range of requirements that must be 
met in order to secure the funding for AEB: demonstrating our readiness to 
plan, manage, administer and assure this funding stream. 

2.16 One of the requirements would be to submit a Strategic Skills Plan specific to 
the Adult Education Budget (AEB) to the Department for Education (DfE). This 
would be separately consulted on to the Employment and Skills Plan, given 
the implications of the changes to funding and the timescales set by DfE. The 
AEB Strategic Skills Plan would feed into the wider Employment and Skills 
Plan, with its activity contributing to our strategic objectives. 

2.17 The Skills Commission has identified a number of areas of change in relation 
to the national skills system and is developing strategic recommendations for 
Combined Authorities and regional partnerships to consider. A further step in 
this work is to consider how the Leeds City Region can incorporate the 
recommendations into AEB planning, if required. 

2.18 The diagram below outlines the relationship between elements of the current 
policy work. 

14



Strategic Economic 
Framework

Local 
Industrial 
Strategy Employment 

and Skills 
Plan 

Adult Education 
Budget Strategic 

Skills Plan 

Skills Commission

2.19 The Skills Commission met in January to discuss the scope for a blueprint for 
a future-ready skills system.  The Commission agreed that the blueprint would 
include:

 Roles and responsibilities of government, regions and local areas
 Data requirements to measure outcomes
 Funding
 Improved benefits for employer, individuals, training providers and the 

economy
 Recommendations to government and regions

2.20 The Commission is holding further workshops with experts from a range of 
disciplines on:

 apprenticeships; focusing on how regions can better support 
apprenticeship reform, and 

 improved integration of health, employment and skills offer to 
individuals to supported sustained work.

2.21    The Commission has received a number of positive news stories following the 
publication of its interim report in November 2019

https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/41603-10-things-that-need-to-
change-to-create-a-skills-and-training-system-that-works-for-all

https://feweek.co.uk/2019/11/17/only-localism-can-unlock-the-skills-sectors-
true-potential/ 

Informed by the 
Future Ready Skills 

Commission

15

https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/41603-10-things-that-need-to-change-to-create-a-skills-and-training-system-that-works-for-all
https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/41603-10-things-that-need-to-change-to-create-a-skills-and-training-system-that-works-for-all
https://feweek.co.uk/2019/11/17/only-localism-can-unlock-the-skills-sectors-true-potential/
https://feweek.co.uk/2019/11/17/only-localism-can-unlock-the-skills-sectors-true-potential/


https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/37951-current-skills-and-training-
system-failing-those-who-need-it-the-most-10-things-that-need-to-change 

2.22 The final report including the blueprint and recommendations will be launched 
in May in London.

2.23 An options appraisal and proposed forward workplan falling out of the final 
recommendations will be developed and shared with the Panel for projects 
and programmes that the Combined Authority could take forward as part of its 
employment and skills programmes and updated Employment and Skills Plan.

Skills Advisory Panels 

2.24 Skills Advisory Panels (SAPs) have been initiated by government and their 
purpose is to bring together local employers and skills providers in order to 
develop a shared understanding of local skills needs and to define clear skills 
priorities.  These deliberations are under-pinned by an evidence-based 
approach grounded in high quality labour market analysis.

2.25 It has been agreed that the Employment and Skills Panel should serve as the 
Skills Advisory Panel for the Leeds City Region area.

2.26 The Department for Education has set out standards that local bodies need to 
meet if they are to be recognised as Skills Advisory Panels by government.  
These standards relate to local capability in terms of producing the required 
labour market analysis and to the nature of governance arrangements put in 
place to support SAP decision-making. 

2.27 Following a review of the LEP’s SAP arrangements by the Department, 
actions were taken by officers to ensure full compliance with the standards, 
based on the feedback received.  The most notable changes were the addition 
of two education and training providers to the membership of the Employment 
and Skills Panel and the approval by the Panel of a protocol that sits alongside 
the existing terms of reference and further clarifies the ESP’s role and 
responsibilities as a Skills Advisory Panel.

2.28 Department for Education have confirmed that Leeds City Region is now fully 
compliant with the SAP standards in respect of both the quality of our labour 
market analysis and of our governance arrangements.

2.29 With regard to its analytical remit, the LEP published its annual labour market 
analysis report in October 2019.  This was followed up with a programme of 
dissemination activity, including two public stakeholder workshops on 31 
October and 19 November.

2.30 The labour market evidence base will be used to inform the development of 
the priorities contained within the new Employment and Skills Plan (see 
above).  It will also be taken into account when determining the content / 
indicators to be taken forward as part of a refreshed Delivery Agreement 
process with local education and training providers.

16

https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/37951-current-skills-and-training-system-failing-those-who-need-it-the-most-10-things-that-need-to-change
https://www.fenews.co.uk/press-releases/37951-current-skills-and-training-system-failing-those-who-need-it-the-most-10-things-that-need-to-change


2.31 The Department for Education has announced that further grant funding will 
be made available to LEPs in 2020/21 to support the continued development 
of SAPs.  There will be a requirement for each SAP to produce a local Skills 
Report by March 2021, highlighting progress made to date and future 
challenges and opportunities.

Place-based solutions 

2.32 The Government released its Towns Fund Prospectus in November, writing to 
the lead Local Authorities of selected towns advising on the first steps in 
preparing a Town Deal. Across the Leeds City Region, 8 towns have been 
selected to develop Town Deal proposals: Keighley, Shipley, Todmorden, 
Brighouse, Dewsbury, Morley, Castleford, Wakefield. 

2.33 Each Local Authority has been tasked with convening a Town Deal Board, 
which is charged with developing a Town Investment Plan which should 
outline context, vision for the town and a high level description of priority areas 
for investment demonstrating how they will boost productivity in the area.

2.34 One of the three overarching objectives of the Towns Fund is ‘Skills and 
enterprise infrastructure: driving private sector investment and ensuring towns 
have the space to support skills and small business development’. 

2.35 Town Deal Boards are advised to ensure their Town Investment Plans (as 
they develop) use evidence from LEP Skills Advisory Panels to identify 
challenges people face and coordinate strategies for how people can be 
supported locally to meet labour market needs in a way that complements 
existing skills initiatives and funding streams.

2.36 The Combined Authority will support Local Authorities in the development of 
Town Deal proposals providing a strategic overview across the region and 
have been invited to attend most Town Boards. Information regarding the 
Future Ready Skills Commission and the Digital Framework has already been 
shared. 

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

17



7 Recommendations

7.1 The Panel is asked to note and comment on the ongoing overall approach to 
strategy and policy issues in relation to employment and skills in the Leeds 
City Region.

7.2 The Panel is asked to comment and agree the proposal for a revised 
Employment and Skills Plan.

8 Background Documents

None.

9 Appendices

None

18



Report to: Employment and Skills Panel

Date:  4 March 2020

Subject:  Digital Framework and analysis of local digital offer

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Lindsey Daniels 

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 To share the headline findings of an analysis of the current local digital skills 
offer, undertaken on behalf of the Leeds City Region Digital Board.  The Panel 
are asked to consider the findings, together with the conclusions and 
recommendations highlighted by the Board.

2 Information

2.1 The remit of the Digital Board is to advise the LEP Board and its Panels, 
including the Employment and Skills Panel.  The Board provides oversight for 
the implementation of the Digital Framework across the five priority outcomes, 
ensuring connections are made between them.

2.2 The Digital Framework articulates the overall vision for the digital economy in 
the Leeds City Region, whilst setting out clear ambition statements and 
proposed interventions.  One of the five strands / outcomes relates to “Digital 
skills for all – giving everyone access to the skills they need to thrive in the 
digital economy”.  

2.3 The vision of the Digital Framework is recognised within the Local Industrial 
Strategy. Specifically, regarding skills, the ‘People’ foundation states ‘Act to 
boost basic, intermediate and advanced digital skills to support progression’ as 
one of its inclusive growth priorities. 

2.3 At its meeting of the 25 November 2020, the Board discussed opportunities to 
strengthen the coordination of the local digital skills offer and the potential 
benefits of putting in place a Digital Skills Partnership for the City Region.  
Further to this discussion, the Digital Board requested that an analysis of the 
City Region’s current offer be prepared, to provide a basis for discussion 
around actions required to enhance the offer. 

19

Agenda Item 8



2.4 The results of the analysis were presented to the Digital Board at its 13 
February 2020 meeting.  The slide pack used for the presentation is appended 
to this paper.  

2.5 In response to the presentation the Board asked officers to consider the 
following additional aspects of the digital skills landscape:
 Employer practice around the development of digital skills, including 

leading edge examples.
 The role of code clubs and digital bootcamps in developing required digital 

skills.
 The potential role of employer-endorsed courses and programmes in view 

of the barriers associated with formal accreditation.
 Skills convergence, as different technologies become more closely 

integrated and the formal divisions between digital and other skills become 
less significant

 Implications of future challenges in the labour market for digital skills, 
including automation.

2.6 Officers were also asked to undertake work on strategic thinking around digital 
workforce and skills issues as part of a wider strategy for the digital sector, 
including consideration of the following:
 An assessment of what’s working and not working in terms of digital skills 

provision.
 Proposals on how to increase the role of the employer voice in the digital 

skills landscape and to bring the wider digital community together.
 Highlighting proposed priorities for action to provide the basis for a more 

focused role for the Board.
 To review the potential added value of moving forward with a Digital Skills 

Partnership for the area.

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

20



7 Recommendations

7.1 The Panel is asked to consider and comment on the findings of the analysis 
work and the recommendations highlighted by the Digital Board.

7.2 The Panel is asked to support the areas of focus for future work identified by 
the Digital Board, as part of the overall package of skills policy work being 
undertaken by the LEP.

8 Background Documents

None.

9 Appendices

Analysis of digital offer slide pack

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Digital Skills Mapping

Lindsey Daniels and Peter Glover 

23

A
genda Item

 8
A

ppendix 1



Purpose and Intro

1. Provide an overview of the digital skills needs and training opportunities 
available the Leeds City Region, including:

• Vocational programmes for 16-18 yr olds
• Adult training opportunities:

o Inclusion/basic skills
o General skills
o Advanced skills

• Targeted interventions

2. Discuss potential areas for action, comparing coverage to need

24



National Policy

• Apprenticeships: Reformation – Standards, levy and highers

• T Levels

• Digital entitlement

• Institutes of Technology

• Digital Skills Partnerships

25



Summary 
Context
• Around 40,000 people are employed in specialist digital roles in the City 

Region
• There is strong demand for specialist digital workers in terms of current 

recruitment activity
• IT user skills are in widespread demand among employers as part of their 

general recruitment requirements
• Specialist digital roles are subject to acute skill shortages whilst digital 

skills are in widespread deficit across the City Region’s wider workforce

Key stage 4
• A small minority of pupils take up computing qualifications at key stage 4 

26



Summary 
Apprenticeships
• Digital apprenticeships account for a small proportion of total 

provision but have grown steadily over recent years unlike 
apprenticeships as a whole

• Digital apprenticeships for 16-18 year olds and at intermediate level 
have declined

• The picture at district level is variable but most districts have seen 
an upward trend in digital apprenticeship take-up

• A majority of digital apprenticeships are now covered by standards –
these standards often have a specialist focus

• Private providers deliver the majority of digital apprenticeships
• Digital apprenticeships offer a strong positive destination rate

27



Summary 

Higher Education

• Around 3% of qualifiers from LCR HEIs are in computer science 
– lower than the national average

• Leeds Beckett University is the leading provider of computer 
science at degree level in volume terms whilst the University of 
York leads on postgraduate opportunities

28



Summary 

16-18 Further Education

• Around 2,500 young people took up a digital qualification in 
2017/18, around 25% lower than in 2015/16

• A majority of this learning is at level 3, spread across a range of 
qualifications at this level.

29



Summary 

Adult Further Education
• Around 7,500 adult learners took up a digital course during 

2017/18 – this a decline of around one fifth on the figure for 
2015/16

• Colleges and councils are the main providers of these digital 
adult education courses

• Positive destinations from digital courses are lower than the 
overall average for adult education courses

• Specialist training is predominantly provided by independent 
training providers 

30



Interventions

• ESF projects
• Skills service – subsidised professional training with TNA
• [re]boot - career changer courses
• Let's talk real skills - sector engagement to drive 

adaptation in skills offers
• Basic digital skills – under commission

• Future goals - all age careers platform
• Delivery agreements - influencing FE provision
• Local Authority initiatives: e.g. Industrial Centers of 

Excellence, Tech Talent Charter 

31



Commercial Provision
• Generic IT business skills
• Specialist industry training

o Programming and coding
o Networking
o Software/system specific
o Cybersecurity 
o Augmented and Virtual Reality
o Methodologies

• Individual focused
• Scheduled and on demand

32



Areas for discussion

• Employer experience of provision?
• What are our areas for action? 

o Focus on gaps in provision? 
o Increase number of apprenticeships?
o Focus on youth participation and/or adult re-training? 
o Influencing AEB and Community Learning usage?
o National lobbying - i.e higher level specific units, standards?

• How can employers get more involved?
• How would the group like to get involved in this agenda?

33



Context

34



A significant minority of people lack the full range of Essential Digital Skills for 
Life
Figure: Key digital inclusion indicators

Source: UK Consumer Digital Index 2019: Spotlight on Consumers in Yorkshire and the Humber

35



 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

Leeds North
Yorkshire

Bradford Kirklees Wakefield York UA Calderdale Barnsley

IT and Telecommunications Professionals Information Technology Technicians

Specialist digital jobs are concentrated in Leeds district but with significant 
employment in most other districts
Figure: Digital employment by district

Source: Annual Population Survey, 2017

36



Digital occupations are among those with the greatest current demand 
in the City Region, based on online postings
Figure: Top occupations in greatest demand by number of online job postings, November 2018 to October 2019, Leeds City 
Region

Note: Analysis limited to occupations at management, professional and associate professional level
Source: Labour Insight

 -  1,000  2,000  3,000  4,000  5,000  6,000  7,000

Primary School Teacher

Financial Manager

Tutor

Computer Support Specialist

Sales Manager

Accountant

Lawyer

Project Manager

Software Developer / Engineer

Registered General Nurse (RGN)

37



IT user skills are among those in greatest demand among employers 
in the City Region, based on online postings
Figure: Top baseline skills  in greatest demand by number of online job postings, November 2018 to October 2019, Leeds City 
Region

Source: Labour Insight

 -  10,000  20,000  30,000  40,000  50,000  60,000

Research

Microsoft Office

Building Effective Relationships

Problem Solving

Creativity

Microsoft Excel

Detail-Orientated

Planning

Organisational Skills

Communication Skills

“Baseline” skills are generic 
skills required across a wide 
range of jobs

38



In specialist digital occupations, technical skills requirements 
dominate along with team work and support skills
Figure: Top specialised skill types in greatest demand in digital occupations, Leeds City Region, November 2018 to October 2019

Source: Labour Insight

 -  500  1,000  1,500  2,000  2,500  3,000  3,500  4,000  4,500

IT Support

Java

SQL Server

Technical Support

.NET

Teamwork / Collaboration

Software Development

Microsoft C#

JavaScript

SQL Stable

Stable

Stable

Growing

Declining

Declining

Stable

Declining

Stable

Stable

Projected demand

39



0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

Vehicle trades

Electrical and electronic trades

Food preparation and hospitality trades

Construction and building trades

Metal machining, fitting and instrument making
trades

Business, finance and related associate professionals

Engineering professionals

Information technology and telecommunications
professionals

Nursing and midwifery professionals
Sk
ill
ed

 tr
ad

es
As
so
c.

pr
of
.

Pr
of
es
sio

na
l

Digital professional occupations are among those facing the most 
acute shortages
Figure:  Occupational minor groups with highest density of skill shortage vacancies, Yorkshire and the Humber

Source: Employer Skills Survey 2017
Note: Density measure shows skill‐shortage vacancies as a proportion of all vacancies

40



Around a third of skills gaps among workers are linked to a deficit 
of IT skills
Figure:  Technical / practical skills that need improving in occupations with skills gaps

Source: Employer Skills Survey 2017
Base: All skills gaps followed up

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70%

DIGITAL SKILLS

COMPLEX ANALYTICAL SKILLS

OPERATIONAL SKILLS

Manual dexterity

Communicating in a foreign language

Advanced or specialist IT skills

More complex numerical or statistical skills

Writing instructions, guidelines, manuals or reports

Basic numerical skills and understanding

Computer literacy / basic IT skills

Adapting to new equipment or materials

Reading and understanding instructions etc

Solving complex problems

Knowledge of how your organisation works

Specialist skills or knowledge for role

Knowledge of products and services

Skills gaps occur when 
existing employees within 
a business lack full 
proficiency for their job

41



Acquiring specific digital skills makes career progression as well 
as a pay increase more likely across a wide range of occupations
Figure: Annual salary by skills level, showing digital salary differential

Source: Burning Glass, No Longer Optional: Employer Demand for Digital Skills

42



Around 60% of schools in the City Region had entries for Computer 
Science GCSE in 2019
Figure: Proportion of schools with Computer Science GCSE entries in 2019

Note: LCR figure includes whole of North Yorkshire
Source: Department for Education 2019 secondary performance tables qualification and subject data

43



Just under 12% of Key Stage 4 pupils in the City Region took 
Computer Science GCSE in 2019
Figure: Computer Science GCSE entries as a proportion of total pupils at end KS4

Note: LCR figure includes whole of North Yorkshire
Source: Department for Education 2019 secondary performance tables qualification and subject data

44



Summary 
Context
• Around 40,000 people are employed in specialist digital roles in the City 

Region
• There is strong demand for specialist digital workers in terms of current 

recruitment activity
• IT user skills are in widespread demand among employers as part of their 

general recruitment requirements
• Specialist digital roles are subject to acute skill shortages whilst digital 

skills are in widespread deficit across the City Region’s wider workforce

Key stage 4
• A small minority of pupils take up computing qualifications at key stage 4 

45



Apprenticeships

46



Digital apprenticeships account for 1 in 20 of all apprenticeships
Figure:  Profile of apprenticeship by subject area, 2018/19, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

Overall apprenticeship starts in LCR are 22% lower 
than in 2015/16 but digital starts are 45% higher.  
Over the same period under-19 starts fell by 31% 
whilst 25+ starts grew by more than 200% 

 -  1,000  2,000  3,000  4,000  5,000  6,000  7,000  8,000

Science and Mathematics

Arts, Media and Publishing

Leisure, Travel and Tourism

Agriculture, Horticulture and Animal Care

Education and Training

Information and Communication Technology

Construction, Planning and the Built Environment

Retail and Commercial Enterprise

Engineering and Manufacturing Technologies

Health, Public Services and Care

Business, Administration and Law

There were 1,120 starts on 
digital apprenticeships in 
LCR in 18/19, 5% of total 
starts.  This is similar to 
national average 

47



Apprenticeship starts in digital have grown steadily but not for under-19s

Figure:  Trend in digital apprenticeship starts by age band, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

290
390

330 280 270 

210

260
280 380 430 

140

140 220
250

430 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Under 19 19-24 25+

Overall apprenticeship starts in LCR are 22% lower 
than in 2015/16 but digital starts are 45% higher.  
However, over this period under-19 digital starts fell 
by 31% whilst 25+ starts grew by more than 200% 

48



200 180 180 190
130

430
540

460
540

570

40

70
170

200

420

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

Intermediate Apprenticeship Advanced Apprenticeship Higher Apprenticeship

Higher apprenticeships in digital have grown rapidly

Figure:  Trend in digital apprenticeship starts by level, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

Advanced apprenticeships are the biggest segment 
(51% of total) but Higher apprenticeships have 
grown by 500% since 2015/16 whilst intermediate 
apprenticeships have declined by a quarter

49



Most districts have seen a positive trend in digital apprenticeship 
starts
Figure:  Trend in digital apprenticeship starts by district, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

Advanced apprenticeships are the biggest segment 
(51% of total)  but Higher apprenticeships have 
grown by 500% since 2015/16 whilst intermediate 
apprenticeships have declined by a quarter

 -

 50

 100

 150

 200

 250

 300

 350

 400

 450

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

50



0 50 100 150 200 250

IT User

IT and Telecoms Professionals

IT Technical Salesperson

Network Engineer

Software Developer

IT and Telecoms Professionals

Software Development Technician

Digital Marketer

Infrastructure Technician

Data Analyst

Digital and Technology Solutions Professional (degree)

In
te

rm
ed

ia
te

Ap
pr

en
tic

es
hi

p
Ad

va
nc

ed
 A

pp
re

nt
ic

es
hi

p

Hi
gh

er
Ap

pr
en

tic
es

hi
p

Highest take-up is of old IT / Telecoms framework, followed by 
infrastructure technician and digital marketer standards

Figure: Digital apprenticeship starts by most in-demand frameworks / standards, 2017/18, Leeds City 
Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

71% of digital apprenticeship 
starts were covered by 
standards rather than old 
SASE frameworks in 2017/18.  
IT Telecoms and Professionals 
is one of the legacy SASE 
frameworks

51



Private providers, rather than colleges, deliver the majority of 
digital apprenticeships in the City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

0 50 100 150 200

JGA Limited

Baltic Training Services

Aspire Achieve Advance

QA Limited

British Telecommunications

Estio Training

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

Private Sector Public
Funded

General FE College incl
Tertiary

Other Public Funded i.e
LAs and HE

Figure:  Digital apprenticeship starts by 
provider type, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Figure: Digital apprenticeship starts by top 
providers, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

52



At national level digital apprenticeships perform strongly with 
regard to achievement rates

Figure: Apprenticeship achievement rates by age and level, 2017/18, England

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

72% 74%

67%
70%

74%

65%

72%
70% 70%

65%
67% 68%

64%
67%

16-18 19-23 24+ Intermediate Advanced Higher Overall

Digital Overall

53



More than 90% of apprenticeship achievers enter a sustained 
positive destination
Figure:  Sustained positive destination rate by academic year of achievement, apprenticeships, Leeds City Region

Source: Longitudinal Education Outcomes (LEO) dataset

92% 93%
96%

90%90% 91% 92% 92%

2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

Sustained positive destination rate - ICT Sustained positive destination rate - Total

54



Summary 
Apprenticeships
• Digital apprenticeships account for a small proportion of total 

provision but have grown steadily over recent years unlike 
apprenticeships as a whole

• Digital apprenticeships for 16-18 year olds and at intermediate level 
have declined

• The picture at district level is variable but most districts have seen 
an upward trend in digital apprenticeship take-up

• A majority of digital apprenticeships are now covered by standards –
these standards often have a specialist focus

• Private providers deliver the majority of digital apprenticeships
• Digital apprenticeships offer a strong positive destination rate

55



Higher Education

56



Computer science qualifiers account for 3% of total graduates in 
the City Region
Figure:  Qualifiers from local HE institutions by subject, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10% 12% 14% 16%

(J) Combined
(I) Education

(H) Creative arts & design
(G) Historical & philosophical studies

(F) Languages
(E) Mass communications & documentation

(D) Business & administrative studies
(C) Law

(B) Social studies
(A) Architecture, building & planning

(9) Engineering & technology
(8) Computer science

(7) Mathematical sciences
(6) Physical sciences

(5) Agriculture & related subjects
(4) Veterinary science
(3) Biological sciences

(2) Subjects allied to medicine
(1) Medicine & dentistry

Leeds City Region England

Computer science 
accounts for smaller 
proportion of HE 
provision in City Region 
than nationally

57



The number of digital graduates from the City Region has 
increased in recent years 
Figure:  Trend in number of local HE qualifiers in computer science, Leeds City Region

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Students at LCR institutions Students with LCR domicile

58



Leeds Beckett has the highest number of computer science 
qualifiers of institutions in the City Region
Figure: Computer science qualifiers (UK domicile) by institution, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

 -  50  100  150  200  250

York St John University

The University of Leeds

The University of Bradford

The University of Huddersfield

The University of York

Leeds Beckett University

First degree Postgraduate

16% of provision in the 
City Region is at 
postgraduate level

59



0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

(I1) Computer
science

(I2) Information
systems

(I3) Software
engineering

(I4) Artificial
intelligence

(I5) Health
informatics

(I6) Games (I7) Computer
generated

visual & audio
effects

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Information systems is the largest specialist discipline within 
computer science
Figure: Computer science qualifiers (UK domicile) by subject area, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

60



Retention rates for computer science are relatively high

Figure: Retention rate by subject area for graduates from Leeds City Region institutions, 2016/17

Note: chart shows the proportion of graduates from LCR institutions in employment in Yorkshire and the Humber 
six months after qualifying
Source: Higher Education Statistics Agency

61



Summary 

Higher Education

• Around 3% of qualifiers from LCR HEIs are in computer science 
– lower than the national average

• Leeds Beckett University is the leading provider of computer 
science at degree level in volume terms whilst the University of 
York leads on postgraduate opportunities

62



16-18 Education 63



16-18 digital learners in FE are falling in absolute terms and as a % 
of total learners
Figure:  Trend in 16-18 learners undertaking ICT courses in further education, Leeds City Region

In 2017/18, 7,500 adult FE learners started a digital 
course  – a fall of 19% on 2015/16 

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

 -

 500

 1,000

 1,500

 2,000

 2,500

 3,000

 3,500

 4,000

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Digital learners (LH axis) Digital learners as % of total learners (RH axis)

64



Two-thirds of 16-18 digital learners in FE are studying at level 3

Figure:  Profile of digital learners aged 16-18 by qualification level, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

0 200 400 600 800 1000 1200 1400 1600 1800 2000

Level 4 Plus

Level 3

Level 2

Below Level 2

65



Level 3 learners are spread across a range of qualifications

Figure:  Most popular ICT qualifications by number of 16-18 learners, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

0 50 100 150 200 250 300 350

BTEC Introductory Certificate in Information Technology

Diploma in Digital Applications

BTEC Introductory Diploma in Information Technology

BTEC Certificate for IT Users (ITQ)

Extended Certificate in IT

Diploma in Professional Competence for IT and Telecoms
Professionals

BTEC First Certificate in Information and Creative Technology

BTEC First Extended Certificate in Information and Creative
Technology

Certificate in IT (QCF)

Diploma in IT (QCF)

90-credit Diploma in IT (QCF)

Subsidiary Diploma in IT (QCF)

GCE A Level in Computer Science

Extended Diploma in IT (QCF)

B
el

ow
 le

ve
l 2

Le
ve

l 2
Le

ve
l 3

66



Summary 

16-18 Further Education

• Around 2,500 young people took up a digital qualification in 
2017/18, around 25% lower than in 2015/16

• A majority of this learning is at level 3, spread across a range of 
qualifications at this level.

67



Adult Education

68



0%

1%

2%

3%

4%

5%

6%

7%

8%

9%

10%

 -

 1,000

 2,000

 3,000

 4,000

 5,000

 6,000

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Community Learning Education & Training ICT learners as % of total learners (RH axis)

Adult digital learners in FE are falling in absolute terms and as a % 
of total learners
Figure:  Trend in adult (19+) learners undertaking ICT courses, Leeds City Region

In 2017/18, 7,500 adult FE learners started a digital 
course  – a fall of 19% on 2015/16 

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

69



Four-fifths of adult learners pursue digital courses that are below 
level 2 or have an unassigned level
Figure:  Profile of adult (19+) learners undertaking ICT courses by qualification level, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

 -  500  1,000  1,500  2,000  2,500  3,000  3,500

Unassigned

Level 4 Plus

Level 3

Level 2

Below Level 2

Vast majority of courses delivered through 
Community Learning have an unassigned 
level

70



0 100 200 300 400 500

Word processing software

Database software

Certificate in IT User Skills (ECDL Extra) (ITQ) (QCF)

Certificate in IT User Skills (ITQ)

Diploma in Professional Competence for IT and Telecoms
Professionals

ECDL Certificate in IT User Skills (QCF)

Diploma in IT (QCF)

Extended Diploma in IT (QCF)

Access to Higher Education Diploma: Computing

Non regulated provision, Level 3, ICT for Users

BTEC Higher National Diploma in Computing

BTEC Higher National Certificate in Computing

Foundation Degree in Applied Computing - Leeds City College

Foundation Degree in Computer Games - Leeds City College
Le

ve
l 2

Le
ve

l 3
Le

ve
l 4

ECDL certificate has the highest take-up in terms of specific 
qualifications
Figure:  Most popular ICT qualifications by number of adult learners, 2017/18, Leeds City Region

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

71



Local colleges and councils account for the majority of digital 
learners via the FE route

Source: Education and Skills Funding Agency

Figure:  Digital learners (aged 19+) by provider type, 2017/18, 
Leeds City Region

Figure: Digital learners (aged 19+) by top providers, 2017/18, 
Leeds City Region

 -  500  1,000  1,500  2,000  2,500  3,000  3,500

Special Colleges

Sixth Form College

Private Sector Public Funded

Other Public Funded i.e LA's and HE

General FE College incl Tertiary

 -  200  400  600  800  1,000 1,200 1,400

Northern College For Residential Adult
Education

North Yorkshire County Council

City Of York Council

Barnsley Metropolitan Borough Council

Kirklees College

Lte Group

Bradford College

Learndirect Limited

Leeds City College

Leeds City Council

Colleges account for 41% of adult digital leaners and councils 31% of 
the total

Leeds City Council alone accounts for 17% of adult digital learners in 
City Region

72



Sustained positive destination rate is lower than average for digital 
qualifications in adult education
Figure:  Sustained positive destination rate by academic year of achievement, adult education provision, Leeds City Region

Source: Longitudinal Education Outcomes (LEO) dataset

55% 54% 55%
57%

65% 66% 66%
63%

2013/2014 2014/2015 2015/2016 2016/2017

Sustained positive destination rate - ICT Sustained positive destination rate - Total

73



Interventions

• ESF projects
• Skills service – subsidised professional training with TNA
• [re]boot - career changer courses
• Let's talk real skills - sector engagement to drive 

adaptation in skills offers
• Basic digital skills – under commission

• Future goals - all age careers platform
• Delivery agreements - influencing FE provision
• Local Authority initiatives: e.g. Industrial Centers of 

Excellence, Tech Talent Charter 

74



Commercial Provision
• Generic IT business skills
• Specialist industry training

o Programming and coding
o Networking
o Software/system specific
o Cybersecurity 
o Augmented and Virtual Reality
o Methodologies

• Individual focused
• Scheduled and on demand

75



Summary 

Adult Further Education
• Around 7,500 adult learners took up a digital course during 

2017/18 – this a decline of around one fifth on the figure for 
2015/16

• Colleges and councils are the main providers of these digital 
adult education courses

• Positive destinations from digital courses are lower than the 
overall average for adult education courses

• Specialist training is predominantly provided by independent 
training providers 

76



Discussion 77



Areas for discussion

• Employer experience of provision?
• What are our areas for action? 

o Focus on gaps in provision? 
o Increase number of apprenticeships?
o Focus on youth participation and/or adult re-training? 
o Influencing AEB and Community Learning usage?
o National lobbying - i.e higher level specific units, standards?

• How can employers get more involved?
• How would the group like to get involved in this agenda?

78



Thank you79



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Report to: Employment and Skills Panel

Date:  4 March 2020

Subject:  Adult Education Budget (AEB)

Director(s): Alan Reiss, Director of Policy, Strategy and Communications

Author(s): Lindsey Daniels 

1 Purpose of this report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the panel on the purpose of the Adult 
Education Budget (AEB), the national funding priorities which determine its 
use and an overview of the current practice and impact in the Leeds City 
Region. 

2 Information

2.1 AEB forms a key strand of activity supporting progression within the broader 
delivery of the skills and employment system linking with other provision, 
including technical education and apprenticeships/traineeships. 

2.2 The Department for Education funds AEB and it is currently administered by 
the Education and Skills Funding Agency (ESFA) in non-devolved areas. AEB 
has been a core component of devolution deals to Mayoral Combined 
Authorities, who have incorporated local priorities and flexibilities into their 
commissioning strategies. 

2.3 Leeds City Region currently has no formal influence over AEB planning or 
delivery. It is possible that responsibility for the Adult Education Budget could 
come to the region as part of a future devolution deal. This involves the 
responsibility of commissioning, administering and assuring the fund. National 
entitlements must be upheld, however devolution provides the ability to focus 
on local priorities through commissioning.  

2.4 The principle purpose of the AEB is to engage adults and provide them with 
the skills needed for entering and sustaining work, an apprenticeship, or other 
further learning.

2.5 The AEB is a single funding stream which replaced what had previously been 
three separate budget lines: the Adult Skills Budget (namely skills provision for 

81

Agenda Item 9



adults aged 19years+), Community Learning, and Discretionary Learner 
Support.

2.6 It encompasses a range of statutory entitlements for learners, including the   
right to fully funded provision for basic English and maths qualifications and, 
depending on the resident’s age and employment status, an entitlement to a 
first level 2 and 3 qualifications. Unemployed learners attract more funding per 
learning aim, in order to incentivise skills delivery that supports progression to 
employment.

2.7 The ESFA estimates that circa £63 million of Adult Education Budget funding 
is spent in Leeds City Region. Approx 72% of the AEB budget is utilised by 
Colleges and Local Authorities through grant funding, with the remaining 28% 
contracted to Independent Training Providers. 

2.8 Currently around 30% of AEB formula funding in Leeds City Region is used to 
support statutory entitlements (English and Maths, Level 2 and Level 3 
qualifications for those 19-23 year olds).

2.9 To provide the basis for discussion a presentation will be given at the Panel 
meeting that will cover the following areas:

 Current national policies  
 Funding entitlements and eligibilities
 The delivery landscape in Leeds City Region 
 Questions to inform discussion by the Panel

3 Financial Implications

3.1 There are no financial implications directly arising from this report.

4 Legal Implications

4.1 There are no legal implications directly arising from this report.

5 Staffing Implications

5.1 There are no staffing implications directly arising from this report.

6 External Consultees

6.1 No external consultations have been undertaken.

7 Recommendations

7.1 The Panel is asked to note and comment on the current delivery of Adult 
Education Budget, and its utilisation in the Leeds City Region.

8 Background Documents

None.

82



9 Appendices

Appendix 1 

83



This page is intentionally left blank



Welcome 

Purpose of this session: 

• To give an overview of the Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

funding policy 

▪ how the funding is allocated

▪ who is funded 

▪ low wage trial

▪ legal entitlements 

▪ AEB programmes / policies 

• How AEB is currently used within the Leeds City Region  

85

A
genda Item

 9
A

ppendix 1



Adult Education Budget 

Overview 86



Funding Rules 

• Rules published each year in 

advance of next funding year

• Apply to all providers of 

education and training who 

receive AEB funding

• Includes eligibility for 

government funding, specific 

AEB funding policy and 

performance management 

rules

87



Adult Education Budget (AEB) 

• Includes all ESFA participation and support funding for eligible learners 

aged 19 and over

• Principal purpose to engage adults and provide them with skills and 

learning needed for work, an apprenticeship or further learning 

• Supports three legal entitlements to full funding for eligible learners

• Also enables adults to enrol on flexible tailored programmes of 

learning, which do not need to include a qualification, to help those 

furthest from learning or employment

88



How funding is allocated

• Traditionally grant providers including colleges, Local Authorities and 

specialist colleges

• Allocations set based on previous years delivery and any government 

annual grant adjustments 

• Adjusted historically at a national level based on growth/reduction 

business cases

• Market opened up for the first time for 2016/17 delivery to include 

ITP’s through contracts for services 

• Sub contracting used to provide capacity

89



AEB Funding Lines 

Adult Skills (ILR 
aim generated)

Community 
Learning 

(funding claim 
generated)

Earnings 
Adjustment 
Statement 

(funding claim 
generated)

Learner Support 
(funding claim 

generated)

90



Payment based on qualification ‘size’

Units 

Awards 

Certificates

Diplomas

91



Eligible Learners

• Three groups, those aged:

▪ 19 to 23, including unemployed

▪ 24+ who are unemployed

▪ 24+ other*

NB - all of the above must meet residency requirements to be eligible for 

government funding

*Other includes individuals who do not meet the definition of 

unemployed, or are employed 

92



Policies and Programmes93



Policies and programmes

• Legal Entitlements

• English and maths (digital to follow in 2021/22)

• First full level 2 / first full level 3, including unemployed

• Provision for unemployed individuals

• Learning and Learner Support

• Community Learning

• ESoL

• 19 to 24 Traineeships

• Princes Trust Team Programme

94



National Priorities – 3 Legal Entitlements 

Learners eligible for 

legal entitlements have 

access to full funding –

they must not incur 

course fees

First Full 
Level 3

Aged 19-2395



National Priorities – eligibility and priorities  

• Unemployed eligibility: this prioritises funding 

to unemployed individuals to undertake learning 

programmes up to Level 2 which support them to move 

into work.

• Low wage eligibility: as with the above, this 

incentivises those earning less than £16,009.50 to 

develop new skills up to Level 2

96



Non-entitlement Provision 

• ‘Catalogue’ of learning aims for 

qualifications and units at Entry, 

Level 1 and Level 2

• ‘Non-regulated’ learning  - no 

qualifications 

• Eligible learners aged 19+ are 

either fully or co-funded, 

depending on their prior attainment 

and circumstances

97



Community Learning

• Helps adults of different ages and backgrounds develop their skills, 

self-confidence, motivation and resilience in order to improve their 

wellbeing and/or progress towards formal learning or employment

• Offers flexible teaching and learning approaches, to engage a diverse 

range of individuals

• Non-formula funded – enables operation of pound plus and local fee 

remission policies 

• Supports Government’s social mobility objectives - Unlocking Talent, 

Fulfilling Potential

• RARPA 

98



Learning Support

• We fund adult learners with learning difficulties or disabilities (LLDD) 

as set out in Apprenticeships, Skills, Children and Learning Act 2009

• Learning support enables providers’ to meet the cost of putting in 

place a reasonable adjustment as part of Equality Act 2010:

▪ £150 fixed monthly rate for each learner

▪ Excess learning support (above monthly rate) can be used for 

costs up to £19,000

▪ can apply for Exceptional Learning Support where costs exceed 

£19,000

99



Learner Support

• Provides financial support for learners with specific financial hardship 

preventing them from taking part in, or completing learning

• Provides for childcare, transport, hardship and residential costs

• ‘Dispersement of funds’ to learners based on actual costs and usually 

means tested by providers who must have a learner support policy

• Non-formula funded:

▪ grant funded providers, part of their block grant

▪ contract for services - paid three times each year 

100



English for Speakers of other Languages (ESOL)

• Government wants to support people to speak and 

understand English 

• Specific ESOL aims and qualifications are funded 

• Awards and certificates from Entry 1 up to and including 

level 2, and non-regulated provision

• ESOL provision is fully funded for unemployed individuals, 

co-funded for everybody else

101



Devolution and Delegation

• More than 50% of AEB now controlled by devolved areas 

• ESFA continues to contract non-devolved areas

• Funding to be distributed through residency post code

• Leeds City Region allocation likely to be based on 2017/18 – approx. 

£63m 

• Excludes 19 – 24 Traineeships

Consultation will follow on flexibilities and opportunities to shape delivery 

102



Use in Leeds City Region 103



AEB formula funding in West Yorks worth £49m in 2017/18, 

around three quarters of total AEB funding

Figure: Notional AEB funding by district, learners resident in West Yorkshire, 2017/18

Note: Formula funding only; figures do not include block-funded allocations for learner support or Community 

Learning; figures do not include OLASS

Source: ESFA Data Cube

14,258,000 

4,082,000 

8,412,000 

17,574,000 

4,208,000 

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield

104



Community Learning Allocations to West Yorks based 

providers were worth a total of £7m in 2018/19

Figure: Community Learning funding allocations by district, West Yorkshire, 2017/18

Note: Figures refer to funding allocations for locally based providers only; exclude out-of-area providers 

delivering to West Yorks learners

Source: ESFA funding allocations, 2018/19

1,638,000 

858,000 

957,000 

2,554,000 

1,291,000 

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield

105



61,000 adult learners started a course in West Yorkshire 

in 2017/18
Figure: Count of learners by programme strand, learners resident in West Yorkshire, 2017/18

Note: Count of learners relates to learners who started learning in 2017/18 academic year.  Excludes OLASS.

Source: ESFA Data Cube

26% of learners started on Community Learning with 

77% starting on Education and Training programme

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield

Community Learning Education & Training

106



Profile of AEB-funded learners broadly reflects distribution of 

19+ population

Figure: Contextual indicators - population profile by West Yorkshire district

Source: Mid-year Population Estimates 2018; Claimant Count Jan. 2020 (Nomis); IMD 2019, ESFA Data Cube

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield

Population - 19-64 Unemployed claimants

Residents of most deprived neighbourhoods AEB Learners

107



More than a quarter of the adult population is qualified below 

level 2 in West Yorkshire, almost 400,000 people

27%

35%
33%

38%

25%

33%

39%

18%

20%
19%

21%

23%

20% 19%
20%

22%

18%
20%

24%

20%
20%

21%

16%

20%

15%

18% 18%

14%14%

7%

10%

7%

9% 9%
8%

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield West Yorkshire England

Level 4+ Level 3 Level 2 Level 1 No qualifications

Figure: Profile of working age population by level of highest qualification held

Source: Annual Population Survey

108



54% of AEB funding is used for learning aims below level 2, 

with a further 41% at level 2 and only 5% at level 3
Figure: Adult Education Budget notional funding (£) by level, 2017/18, West Yorkshire

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

Below Level 2 Level 2 Level 3

Note: Formula funded provision only; data for Full Level 2 and 3 not available

Source: ESFA Data Cube

109



Basic skills provision accounts for 39% of AEB notional 

funding

Figure: Adult Education Budget notional funding (£) by basic skills type, 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

 -  1,000,000  2,000,000  3,000,000  4,000,000  5,000,000  6,000,000  7,000,000  8,000,000

English

ESOL

Maths

Below Level 2 Level 2

110



Around a third of AEB formula funding is used to support 

statutory entitlements

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

 35,000,000

English and maths, up to
and including level 2, for
individuals aged 19 and

over, who have not
previously attained a
GCSE grade A* -C or

grade 4, or higher

First full qualification at
level 3 for individuals

aged 19 to 23

First full qualification at
level 2 for individuals

aged 19 to 23

No entitlement

Figure: Adult Education Budget notional funding (£) by learner entitlement, 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only.  Analysis includes all qualifications at levels 2 and 3 not just full 

qualifications

Source: ESFA Data Cube

111



73% of AEB formula funding is used to support jobless 

learners 

 -

 5,000,000

 10,000,000

 15,000,000

 20,000,000

 25,000,000

 30,000,000

 35,000,000

Employed Employed - part-
time

Not in paid
employment, not
looking and/or

not available for
work

Not in paid
employment,

looking for work
and available to

start work

Self-employed Not known/not
recorded

Figure: Adult Education Budget notional funding (£) by employment status FDL of learner, 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

112



44% of learners are aged between 31 and 49 with only 

5% aged 65+
Figure: Count of learners by age band, learners resident in West Yorkshire, 2017/18

Note: Count of learners relates to learners who started learning in 2017/18 academic year.  Excludes OLASS

Source: ESFA Data Cube

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

40%

45%

50%

19-24 25-30 31-49 50-64 65+

Community Learning Education & Training Total

113



In terms of aim type, certificates, diplomas and functional 

skills account for largest funding shares
Figure: Adult Education Budget notional funding (£) by aim type, 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

 -  4,000,000  8,000,000  12,000,000  16,000,000

Certificate of Competence

First Certificate

Free Standing Mathematics Qualifications

Edexcel First Diploma (new syllabus)

Introductory Certificate

Introductory Diploma

GCE AS level

Edexcel First Extended Certificate

GCE A level

QCF Units

Access to Higher Education Diploma

GCSE

Other

Award

Functional Skills

Diploma

Certificate

Below Level 2 Level 2 Level 3

114



With regard to specific aims, GCSEs and functional skills 

quals attract the greatest funding

Figure: Top learning aims by Adult Education Budget notional funding (£), 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

 -  500,000  1,000,000  1,500,000  2,000,000  2,500,000

BTEC Certificate in Workskills

Functional Skills qualification in English at Entry 3

Non regulated Adult skills formula funded provision,
Entry Level, ESOL, 101 to 196 hrs

Non regulated Adult skills formula funded provision,
Entry Level, ESOL, 197 to 292 hrs

Functional Skills qualification in Mathematics at Entry 3

Diploma in Progression (QCF)

GCSE (9-1) in English Language

Functional Skills qualification in Mathematics

Functional Skills Qualification in English

GCSE (9-1) in Mathematics

Below Level 2 Level 2

115



With regard to Certificates, workskills, customer service 

and IT user skills rank highest in terms of funding
Figure: Top learning aims (certificates only) by Adult Education Budget notional funding (£), 2017/18, 

West Yorkshire

 -  100,000  200,000  300,000  400,000  500,000  600,000  700,000

Certificate in Employability Skills

BTEC Certificate in Construction

Certificate in Understanding Autism

BTEC Certificate in Workskills (Entry 3)

Certificate in Understanding Behaviour that
Challenges

Certificate in Personal Development for Employability
(RQF)

Certificate in Supporting Teaching and Learning in
Schools (QCF)

ECDL Certificate in IT User Skills (QCF)

Certificate for Introduction to Customer Service (Entry
3)

BTEC Certificate in Workskills

Below Level 2 Level 2 Level 3

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

116



With regard to Diplomas, Progression, Comp. Therapies 

and IT/Telecoms aims rank highest in terms of funding
Figure: Top learning aims by Adult Education Budget notional funding (£), 2017/18, West Yorkshire

Note: Formula funded provision only

Source: ESFA Data Cube

 -  400,000  800,000  1,200,000  1,600,000

Diploma in Hair and Media Make-Up Studies (QCF)

Diploma in Electrical Installations (Buildings and
Structures)

Diploma in Women's Hairdressing (QCF)

Diploma in Introduction to Health, Social Care and
Children's and Young People's Settings (QCF)

Diploma in Plumbing Studies

Diploma in Personal Development for Employability
(RQF)

NVQ Diploma in Beauty Therapy General (QCF)

Diploma in Professional Competence for IT and
Telecoms Professionals

Diploma in Complementary Therapies

Diploma in Progression (QCF)

Below Level 2 Level 2 Level 3

117



82%

57%
64%

18%

43%
36%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

120%

Community Learning 19+ Education and Training Total

Provider based in area Provider based out of area

More than a third of WY learners are enrolled with an out of area 

provider

Figure: Count of learners by location of provider, learners resident in West Yorkshire, 2017/18

Note: Count of learners relates to learners who started learning in 2017/18 academic year.  Excludes OLASS

Source: ESFA Data Cube

For c.60% of learners enrolled with an out-of-area 

provider, actual delivery location is within West Yorks

118



0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

Bradford Calderdale Kirklees Leeds Wakefield England

Sustained positive destination rate Sustained employment rate Sustained learning rate

Sustained positive destination rates are below the national 

average in some districts

Figure: Local authority outcomes for 19+ Skills provision, learners who achieved in 2016/17 academic 

year

Source: Further education: outcome-based success measure, Department for Education

119



Thank you120


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting of the Employment and Skills Panel held on 27 November 2019
	6 Employment and Skills Programmes
	7 Policy Updates
	8 Digital Framework and analysis of local digital offer
	Item 8 - Analysis of digital offer  APPENDIX

	9 Adult Education Budget
	Item 9 - AEB Overview & LCR (ESP)


